TGEGKXGF.'3213914235'34-35-66.''Vj qo cu'F0J cm''Engtm''Uwrtgo g''Eqwtv

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEAL OF FLORIDA

CASE NO.: SC13-1080

L.T. NO.: 4D10-4237

RONALD WILLIAMS,

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

APPELLANT'S INITIAL BRIEF

ON APPEAL FROM AN APPEAL AFFIRMING THE FINAL JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION AND SENTENCE FROM THE FOURTH DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL

RICHARD G. LUBIN, P.A. Second Floor, Flagler Plaza 1217 S. Flagler Drive West Palm Beach, FL 33401 Telephone: (561) 655-2040 Facsimile: (561) 655-2182 Counsel for Appellant, RONALD WILLIAMS

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

The following persons may have an interest in this case:

Ronald Williams, Appellant

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

The following symbols, abbreviations and references will be utilized throughout this Initial Brief of Appellant, Ronald Williams:

The term "Appellant" shall refer to the Defendant, Ronald Williams, in the District Court below. The term "Appellee" shall refer to the Plaintiff, the State of Florida, in the District Court below. The Record on Appeal in this case contains pleadings and transcripts from the trial court. The record on appeal consisted of a total of six volumes which included the pleadings, trial and sentencing transcripts, evidence log and a one volume supplement. Citations to the pleadings and trial exhibits are contained in volumes 1 and 2 of the record. Those portions of the record shall be referred by Volume number and page. (i.e., V-1, p.33) The trial and sentencing transcripts contained in the Record on Appeal shall be referred to as "(R)" followed by the appropriate page number. Reference to the supplemental record will be cited as "SR" followed by the appropriate page number.

REQUEST FOR ORAL ARGUMENT

Appellant, RONALD WILLIAMS, has been sentenced to 80 years in prison. Given the gravity of the sentence, the complexity of the issue raised here and the ongoing controversy amongst the district courts with the statutory language in section 775.087(2)(d), Mr. Williams, through undersigned counsel respectfully requests this Court to grant Oral Argument.

JURISDICTION

Jurisdiction is invoked pursuant to Rule 9.020(h) & 9.030(a)(2)(A)(v), Fla.R.App.P., discretionary jurisdiction of the Supreme Court to review the decisions of the Fourth District Court of Appeal rendered on April 24, 2013. The decision is within the Supreme Court's jurisdiction because the decision of the Fourth District Court of Appeal certified the question to be of great public importance. (See rule 9.030(a)(2)(A)).

STANDARD OF REVIEW

Review is de novo. *Williams v. State*, 2013 WL 1748687,--So.3d--(Fla 4th DCA 2013) *citing Johnson v. State*, 78 So.3d 1305, 1310 (Fla.2012) ("Judicial interpretations of statutes are pure questions of law subject to de novo review.").

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is an appeal from an appeal affirming: (a) a jury verdict and judgment of

conviction and sentence of four (4) counts of Aggravated Assault with a Firearm and one (1) count of Resisting Officer Without Violence.

Appellant was charged by Information with four counts of Aggravated Assault with a Firearm and one count of Resist Officer without Violence. (V-1, p. 28). The Information charged Appellant with discharging a firearm during the commission of aggravated assault offenses. Appellant proceeded to trial on September 15, 2010. The jury returned a guilty verdict on September 16, 2010, to all counts as alleged in the Information. (V-1, p.65). A special verdict form was submitted to the jury specifically related to the discharge of a firearm element. The jury made a finding that the firearm had been discharged on each of the aggravated assault with a firearm counts. (V-1, p.65-67).

The trial court immediately proceeded to sentencing after the verdict on September 16, 2010, adjudicating Appellant guilty on all counts and sentencing him to consecutive minimum mandatory terms of twenty years in prison on counts 1-4, (V-1,pp.68-74). Appellant pursuant was sentenced under section 775.087(2)(a)(c)&(d), *Florida Statutes* (2007). Appellant was sentenced on count 5, resisting arrest without violence, to one year in jail, to run concurrent with count 1. (V-1, p. 69, R- 457). Appellant was credited with 776 days on counts 1and 5. (R-457)

Appellant filed a timely Notice of Appeal on October 12, 2010. (V-1,p. 110).

After filing the notice of appeal, Appellant filed a Motion to Correct Sentencing Errors While Appeal is pending pursuant to Rule 3.800(b)(2), *Fla.R.Crim.P*, in the trial court on May 27, 2011 and a corresponding Notice in this court. The trial court entered an Order denying Appellant's motion to correct sentencing error on August 9, 2011.

The Fourth District Court of Appeal, in an *En Banc* opinion dated April 24, 2013, affirmed Appellant's conviction and sentence and certified the following question to be of great public importance:

Does section 775.087(2)(d)'s statement that "The court shall impose any term of imprisonment provided for in this subsection consecutively to any other term of imprisonment imposed for any other felony offense" require consecutive sentences when the sentences arise from one criminal episode?

Williams v. State, 2013 WL 1748687 (Fla. Dist. Ct. App. Apr. 24, 2013).

On May 21, 2013, Appellant filed a notice to invoke discretionary jurisdiction with this Court. On July 16, 2013, this Court accepted jurisdiction.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

The information alleged that Appellant threatened Jeremy Hoggins, Javaris Allen, Latodd Davis and Benjamin Butler with a firearm and during the course of the offense Appellant discharged the firearm. (V-1,pp.28,29).

On February 12, 2008, Jeremy Hoggins was living on 1033 9th Street Apartment B, Riviera Beach, Florida with his three roommates Javaris Allen, Latodd Davis and

Benjamin Butler. (R-183). Sometime during the day the four roommates left the apartment and returned home together. Davis testified that he remembered finishing his work shift when the four returned home in the same vehicle. As Davis exited the vehicle, he recalled hearing someone "name calling" from the parking lot at or towards him. (R-212,213). Although Hoggins vaguely remembered the incident, he remembered that there was a verbal altercation with Appellant where there was an exchange of words "about our sexuality". (R-187). Hoggins did not know Appellant, but had seen him in the past and knew he was friends with his neighbor. (R-189). He heard Appellant yell "punk, faggot, and other homosexual gestures". (R-191). Appellant stayed by his parked car in the parking lot during the entire incident as the four continued to walk towards their apartment. (R-192).

After the exchange of words between Appellant and the four, Hoggins remembered seeing Appellant point a gun in their direction. (R-195). Hoggins then observed Appellant point the gun in the air and fire it. When the gun was discharged, it was never pointed in the direction of the four or at any one person. (R-195, 196). As the gun fired, all four ran to the doorway of the apartment. (R-196). Hoggins also stated that Appellant "couldn't have shot in our direction because it would have hit the wall or one of us."

Latodd Davis was unable to see if the gun was pointed at him, as he was the first

one through the door when the first gunshots were fired. (R-215,216). During his deposition and later at trial, Davis testified that he did see Appellant shoot the gun straight in the air. (R-229). Davis was not sure as to the number of shots, but remembered Appellant leaving the area after firing two. (R-230).

Javaris Allen testified that as he approached the door to his apartment he heard someone call out "punk." (R-307). Allen recognized Appellant as he had seen him several times at the neighbor's apartment. (R-308). As Allen approached the front door he turned towards Appellant and saw a silver shining object. (R-309). Allen saw Appellant raise the gun and fire it in the air without pointing it at them. (R-312). After hearing the three gunshots Allen became frightened. (R-312).

After Appellant was taken into custody, he provided Detective Patrick Walsh from the Riviera Beach Police Department with a taped statement. (R-352). Appellant stated that he was upset with the four as they were flirting with him and giving him the eye. (R-362). Appellant stated that he had remained in the car, pointed the gun up and out when firing, and never pointed it any one of them. (R-363,366). The gun was discharged five times. Appellant stated that it was his intention to only scare them and at no point did he ever "intend to harm anybody". (R-369). Appellant had told Detective Walsh that he had drank some gin earlier in the day. (R-366).

Benjamin Butler did not testify at trial. Attorney for Appellant moved for a

judgment of acquittal as to the count related to Benjamin Butler. (R-372). Court denied the motion and the jury returned a guilty verdict on all five counts of the information. The trial court then proceeded to sentence Defendant to four consecutive twenty year sentences, for a total of eighty (80) years on the four third degree felonies of aggravated assault with a firearm.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Appellate court erred by holding that Section 775.087(2)(a), *Florida Statutes*, also known as the 10-20-Life Statute, required it to affirm the imposition of four consecutive minimum mandatory sentences of twenty years for each offense of aggravated assault with a firearm where the conduct giving rise to the offenses occurred in a single episode against multiple victims and no one victim sustained any injuries. Language in House Bill 113, which initiated the amendment to the 10-20-Life statute stated the following: "This provision does not explicitly prohibit a judge from imposing the minimum mandatory sentences concurrent to each other." Said provision made it clear that trial judges were to have discretion to sentence defendants to concurrent sentences when defendant faced multiple counts arising from the same criminal episode.

ARGUMENT

POINT I

STATUTORY LANGUAGE OF SECTION 775.087(2)(d) THAT **"THE IMPOSE** COURT SHALL ANY TERM OF IMPRISONMENT PROVIDED FOR IN THIS SUBSECTION ANY OTHER CONSECUTIVELY ТО TERM OF **IMPRISONMENT IMPOSED FOR ANY OTHER FELONY OFFENSE**" IS AMBIGUOUS REQUIRING COURT TO LOOK **AT LEGISLATIVE INTENT, WHICH DOES NOT PROHIBIT CONCURRENT SENTENCES FOR OFFENSES ARISING FROM ONE CRIMINAL EPISODE.**

On appeal the Fourth District Court addressed the issue of whether section 775.087(2)(d), *Fla.Stat.*, required it to sentence Appellant to consecutive minimum mandatory sentences or did the statute allow concurrent sentences for the same offenses.

At sentencing, the State argued that the recent decision of *Scott v. State*, 42 So.2d 923 (Fla.2n DCA 2010) was on point and required the trial court to sentence Appellant to consecutive sentences. After reviewing *Scott*, the trial court pronounced the following sentence:

"Given the language of subsection (2)(d), as well as this *Scott* opinion from the 2^{nd} District, I believe that the– this is not a –**it**'s **not a permissible stacking situation, it's a mandatory stacking situation.** Pre-amendment, it would appear that it would have been merely permissible. But again, in this amendment to the statute, and the language in the Scott opinion, it appears to be mandatory."

(R-457).

The trial court proceeded to sentence Appellant to four consecutive twenty year sentences, for a total of eighty (80) years on four third degree felonies. Appellant argued that under section 775.087(2)(a)(c)(d), *Fla.Stat.*, the trial court was not required, but had the discretion to sentence Appellant to concurrent terms and the facts of the case warranted concurrent sentences where there were no physical injuries to any of the victims and Appellant never shot and or discharged the firearm at any one victim. Appellant does concede that the sentencing judge had the discretion to sentence to concurrent, consecutive or a hybrid of the two sentences. Judge Joseph Marx¹, sitting in as the sentencing judge at the motion to correct sentencing error, stated the following:

"I still stand by what I said earlier, is this thing still doesn't seem completely resolved in my mind, but let's tee it up right so somebody's going to get it resolved one way or the other..." (SR-40).

"Mr. Williams, I would never give you eighty years on this case... We have first degree murder cases that people get less than this." (SR-41).

¹ Judge John J. Hoy presided over the trial and the initial sentencing. Subsequently, Judge Hoy transferred out of the division and into a civil division. Judge Marx was then transferred into the division.

"But here's what I'm going to do, because either way he's going to be in custody. So I'm not completely sure, but it would make no sense for me when I'm completely unsure and I've got this 4th DCA PCA here and uncertainty of it, let's tee it up for the 4th District Court of Appeal to make a ruling... I am going to deny the motion, because we're going to have the 4th District Court of Appeal tell us is it required in a case that there are separate convictions? We have multiple victims...and there are multiple injury. We'll call it a mental injury. So we have separate and distinct, so the court certainly could have imposed a consecutive sentence.

What I want the 4th District Court of Appeal to tell me is must I? Is it required, and is that what the statute–and there's a dispute over the House Bill, and that House Bill language was in one of those cases, too..." (SR-44).

In *Scott*, 42 So.2d 923, the defendant had sprayed bullets from an automatic weapon at nine people during a single episode, none of the nine were hit. A jury found defendant guilty of nine counts of attempted second degree murder. The trial court sentenced Scott to consecutive twenty-year minimum mandatory prison sentences on each count. *Id*. The *Scott* Court addressed the issue of whether the trial

court was permitted to run the sentences consecutive to each other. In affirming the trial court's consecutive sentences, the Second District Court held that consecutive minimum mandatory sentences under the "10-20-Life" statute were *permissible*. The *Scott* court, throughout it's opinion, used words such as "permissible" and "allows" when discussing the sentencing statute, evidencing the discretion given to the judge when sentencing under section 775.087(2)(d).

This discretionary language appears to have its origins in *State v. Christian* 692 So. 2d 889, 890 (Fla. 1997), where the Florida Supreme Court stated that , "[a]s a general rule, for offenses arising from a single episode, stacking is permissible where the violations of the minimum mandatory statutes cause injury to multiple victims, or multiple injuries to one victim. The injuries bifurcate the crimes for stacking purposes."

In the present case, the Fourth District Court held that the statutory language and case law, specifically *State v. Sousa*, 903 So.2d 923 (Fla. 2005)(herein "*Sousa II*"), did not provide a sentencing court with the discretion to sentence to concurrent sentences under section 775.087(2)(d), but required the imposition of consecutive minimum mandatory sentences.

In addressing the issue of whether stacking minimum mandatory sentences was permissible, the Fourth District Court stated the following:

"We answer that question "yes" after applying the plain language of section 775.087(2)(d), as interpreted by the supreme court in *Sousa II*. Section 775.087(2)(d)'s last clause states: "The court *shall* impose any term of imprisonment provided for in this subsection consecutively to any other term of imprisonment imposed *for any other felony offense*." (emphasis added). The supreme court held in *Sousa II* that "any other felony offense" may include offenses falling under section 775.087(2)(a)'s mandatory minimum provisions and occurring during the same criminal episode. Thus, when a defendant is convicted of such offenses, as occurred in this case, the word "shall" prefacing section 775.087(2)(d)'s last clause *requires* that a court impose consecutive sentences for each of those offenses.

Williams v. State, 13 WL 1748687. –so.3d–(2013). Although the *Williams* court held that section 775.087(2)(d), required it to reach the conclusion of mandatory consecutive sentences, it did recognize that *Sousa II* only answered the question of whether consecutive mandatory minimum sentences were *permissible* under section 775.087(2)(d). *"Sousa II* left unanswered the question of whether consecutive mandatory minimum sentences are *required* by section 775.087(2)(d) under the same circumstances." *Id*. Based on the foregoing, the Fourth District Court certified the following question to be of great public importance:

Does section 775.087(2)(d)'s statement that "The court shall impose any term of imprisonment provided for in this subsection consecutively to any other term of imprisonment imposed for any other felony offense" require consecutive sentences when the sentences arise from one criminal episode?

The Fourth District Court concluded that the plain language of section 775.087(2)(d) coupled with the term "*shall impose*" made it clear that any felony

offense would require consecutive sentences. Although the statutory language is plain, it is far from clear. Appellant has argued that the language "any other felony offense" means any felony offense other than a section 775.087(2)(d) enumerated offense. The focus here is on the phrase "any other". Appellant argues that a better reading of the statute is "the court shall impose any term of imprisonment provided for in this subsection consecutively to any other term of imprisonment imposed for any other felony offense" not included in this subsection. This would then allow a court discretion to sentence consecutively on the mandatory minimum offenses and no discretion on other offenses that fall outside section 775.087(2)(d). A similar interpretation of the statute was first recognized by the Second District Court in Sousa v. State ("Sousa I"), 868 So.2d 538, 540 (Fla. 2d DCA 2003) when it reversed the consecutive sentences, holding that section 775.087(2)(d) did not "provide the legislative authorization necessary to require consecutive sentencing." To support that holding, the Second District agreed with the holding in Mondesir v. State, 814 So. 2d 1172 (Fla. 3d DCA 2002) that section 775.087(2)(d)'s last clause, requiring consecutive sentences "for any other felony offense", means that "sentences received pursuant to section 775.087(2)(d) must only be consecutive to other felony sentences not subject to section 775.087(2)(d)." Sousa I, 868 So.2d at 539 (citing Mondesir, 814 So.2d at 1173).

In *Sousa II*, this Court did not agree with the reasoning in *Mondesir* only to the "extent it construes the statute to mean that the "any other" language only refers to crimes which took place at different times." *Sousa II*, 903 So.2d at 927. Appellant here agrees with this Court's interpretation of the statute that "any other" also includes crimes that occurred within the same episode. Accordingly, Appellant contends that the language of the statute does not require or mandate consecutive sentences on offenses arising from the same episode and falling under section 775.087(2)(d).

Because this case involves statutory interpretation, this Court's review is de novo. *Gomez v. Vill. of Pinecrest*, 41 So. 3d 180, 185 (Fla. 2010) *quoting Larimore v. State*, 2 So.3d 101, 106 (Fla.2008). "A court's purpose in construing a statute is to give effect to legislative intent, which is the polestar that guides the court in statutory construction."*Id.* (citing *Bautista v. State*, 863 So.2d 1180, 1185 (Fla.2003)). "To discern legislative intent, a court must look first and foremost at the actual language used in the statute."*Id.*

"As this Court has often repeated, when the language of the statute is clear and unambiguous and conveys a clear and definite meaning ... the statute must be given its plain and obvious meaning. Further, we are without power to construe an unambiguous statute in a way which would extend, modify, or limit, its express terms or its reasonable and obvious implications. To do so would be an abrogation of legislative power. A related principle is that when a court interprets a statute, it must give full effect to all statutory provisions. Courts should avoid readings that would render part of a statute meaningless." *Gomez v. Vill. of Pinecrest,* 41 So. 3d at 185 *quoting Velez v. Miami-Dade County Police Dep't,* 934 So.2d 1162, 116-65 (Fla. 2006). *See also Sousa II,* 903 So. 2d at 928 ("The fundamental rule of construction in determining legislative intent is to first give effect to the plain and ordinary meaning of the language used by the Legislature. Courts are not to change the plain meaning of a statute by turning to legislative history if the meaning of the statute can be discerned from the language in the statute.)

In *Sousa II*, the Florida Supreme Court, in interpreting the statute under the 1999 amendment, came to the conclusion that stacking minimum mandatory sentences were *permissible*. The Court stated:

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