IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA,

RONALD WILLIAMS,

Petitioner,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

Case No.: SC13-1080 L.T. No.: 4D10-437

RESPONDENT'S ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

PAMELA JO BONDI Attorney General Tallahassee, Florida

CELIA A. TERENZIO Florida Bar No. 0656879 Bureau Chief

MITCHELL A. EGBER Assistant Attorney General Florida Bar No. 35619 1515 North Flagler Drive West Palm Beach, FL 33401 Telephone (561) 837-5000 Counsel for Petitioner

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Respondent contends that jurisdiction was improvidently granted. The statutory language of section 775.087(2)(d), Florida Statutes is plain and unambiguous that sentences "shall" be consecutive. Accordingly, the statute is clear that a trial court has no discretion but to impose consecutive sentences and there is no reason to subject the statute to further interpretation.

Respondent submits this Court must answer the certified question in the affirmative and hold that section 775.087 (2)(d), Fla. Stat. requires consecutive sentences when the sentences arise from one criminal episode. Florida case law holds that the word "shall" means mandatory and not permissive as it involves sentencing. While there is no reason to consider the legislative intent as Respondent contends the statute is plain and unambiguous, the legislative intent behind the statute is to punish criminal defendants to the "fullest extent of the law".

ARGUMENT

THE QUESTION OF GREAT PUBLIC IMPORTANCE CERTIFIED TO THIS HONORABLE COURT MUST BE ANSWERED IN THE AFFIRMATIVE; THE PLAIN AND UNAMBIGUOUS LANGUAGE OF SECTION 775.087(2)(D) REQUIRES COURTS TO SENTENCE DEFENDANTS TO CONSECUTIVE SENTENCES ONE SENTENCES THAT ARISE FROM ONE CRIMINAL EPISODE

Petitioner submits this Court should hold that section 775.087(2)(d), Fla. Stat. permits the trial court *discretion* in imposing consecutive sentences for offenses committed under the statute. In so imploring this Court to hold that maxim, he contends the statute is not plain and unambiguous, thus this Court should look to the legislative history of the statute. Respondent disagrees as 775.087(2)(d) is clear and unambiguous and, as this Court has held, the legislature intended to punish criminal defendants to the "fullest extent of the law".

Preliminarily, Respondent contends that jurisdiction was improvidently granted as to the certified question. The statutory language of 775.087 (2)(d) is clear and unambiguous that sentences "shall" be imposed consecutively. See e.g., Mancini v. State, 312 So. 2d 732 (Fla. 1975)(after further review, noting that jurisdiction was improperly granted). As this Court observed in State v. Sousa, 903 So.2d 923, 928 (Fla. 2005) interpreting 775.087, the "fundamental rule of

construction in determining legislative intent is to first give effect to the plain and ordinary meaning of the language used by the Legislature. Courts are not to change the plain meaning of a statute by turning to legislative history if the meaning of the statute can be discerned from the language in the statute [citations omitted]". Accordingly, Respondent requests that this Court not review the certified question.

"Questions of statutory interpretation are subject to *de novo* review." Mendenhall v. State, 48 So.3d 740, 747 (Fla. 2010). "[L]egislative intent is the polestar that guides a court's statutory construction analysis." Knowles v. Beverly Enters.-Fla., 898 So.2d 1, 5 (Fla. 2004). In determining that intent, "we look first to the statute's plain meaning." Id. (quoting Moonlit Waters Apartments, Inc. v. Cauley, 666 So.2d 898, 900 (Fla.1996)).

"As with any case of statutory construction, [the Court must begin] with the 'actual language used in the statute.' "Heart of Adoptions, Inc. v. J.A., 963 So.2d 189, 198 (Fla.2007) (quoting Borden v. East–European Ins. Co., 921 So.2d 587, 595 (Fla.2006)). "This is because legislative intent is determined primarily from the statute's text." Id. In Velez v. Miami–Dade Cnty. Police Dep't, 934 So.2d 1162, 1164–65 (Fla.2006) this Court has explained:

[W]hen the language of the statute is clear and unambiguous and conveys a clear and definite meaning ... the statute must be given its plain and obvious meaning. Further, we are without power to construe an

unambiguous statute in a way which would extend, modify, or limit, its express terms or its reasonable and obvious implications. To do so would be an abrogation of legislative power. A related principle is that when a court interprets a statute, it must give full effect to all statutory provisions. Courts should avoid readings that would render part of a statute meaningless.

Section 775.087(2)(d), Florida Statutes (2008), addresses consecutive imposition of mandatory minimums which provides:

It is the intent of the Legislature that offenders who actually possess, carry, display, use, threaten to use, or attempt to use firearms or destructive devices be punished to the fullest extent of the law, and the minimum terms of imprisonment imposed pursuant to this subsection shall be imposed for each qualifying felony count for which the person is convicted. The court shall impose any term of imprisonment provided for in this subsection consecutively to any other term of imprisonment imposed for any other felony offense.

In <u>State v. Thomas</u>, 487 So.2d 1043 (Fla.1986), this Court permitted consecutive mandatory minimums where the defendant committed attempted first-degree murder and aggravated assault in one incident, shooting at two victims and injuring one. <u>Id</u>. at 1044. The court reasoned that even without explicit statutory authority, consecutive sentencing was permissible because the single incident involved "two separate and distinct offenses involving two separate and distinct victims." <u>Id</u>. Such is the case here and Appellant concedes as much (IB 13).

In State v. Sousa, 903 So.2d 923 (Fla. 2005), this Court held that

775.087(2)(d) explicitly authorizes consecutive mandatory minimum sentences imposed under 10–20–Life. Id. at 927. The Second District, in Sousa v. State, 868 So.2d 538 (Fla. 2d DCA 2003) relying upon Mondesir v. State, 814 So.2d 1172 (Fla. 3d DCA 2002), had held that section 775.087(2)(d) does not permit the stacking of mandatory minimum sentences imposed under 10–20–Life, interpreting the operative sentence in section 775.087(2)(d) to mean that mandatory minimums under 10–20–Life could only run consecutively to sentences for other separate crimes that are not part of a single prosecution. Disagreeing with this interpretation, this Court stated:

We disagree that section 775.087 as amended still does not permit consecutive sentences. To draw that conclusion we would have to find that the 1999 amendment to section 775.087 overrules our decisions in <u>Christian</u> and <u>Thomas</u>. We do not agree. Rather we conclude that this amendment to the statute is consistent with the decisions in Christian and Thomas.

We do not agree with the reasoning of the Third District in Mondesir to the extent it construes the statute to mean that the "any other" language only refers to crimes which took place at different times. We find nothing in the statutory language which supports that construction of the statute. The statute's plain language does not state that, nor do we find the language of the statute to be ambiguous.

Id. at 927 (citation omitted).

Appellant agrees with this Court's interpretation of the statute that "any

other felony" includes crimes that occurred within the same episode (IB 13).

In <u>Williams</u>, the Fourth District held that the term "shall" in 775.087 (2)(d) is mandatory. Id., at 4. As a footnote to it's decision the Fourth District stated:

In reaching our conclusion, we also have come to recognize the need to clarify a statement from one of our recent decisions, <u>Jean–Michel v. State</u>, 96 So.3d 1043 (Fla. 4th DCA 2012). There, we stated: "<u>Sousa [II]</u> held that 10–20–Life sentences involving multiple victims must be served consecutively to each other, in accordance with the statutory mandate." <u>Id</u>. at 1046. <u>Sousa II</u> did not expressly state such a holding, although we recognize such a holding in today's opinion.

Williams, , --- So.3d ----, 2013 WL 1748687 at 5.

It is because the Fourth District did not construe <u>Sousa II</u>¹ as definitive on the issue of non-discretion on the part of the trial court, that the certified question was presented.

It is noteworthy that other District Courts of Appeal have echoed the holding of the Fourth in both Williams and Jean-Michel v. State, 96 So. 3d 1043 (Fla 4th DCA 2012). In Mondesir, which this Court reversed on other grounds², the Third

¹ The Fourth District's references this Court's decision in <u>State v. Sousa</u>, 903 So.2d 923 (Fla. 2005) as <u>Sousa II</u>.

² "We do not agree with the reasoning of the Third District in <u>Mondesir to the extent</u> it construes the statute to mean that the "any other" language only refers to crimes which took place at different times. <u>Sousa</u>, 868 So.2d at 540. We find nothing in the statutory language which supports that construction of the statute. The statute's plain language does not state that, nor do we find the language of the statute to be ambiguous." <u>Sousa</u>, 903 So.2d at 927-289(emphasis added)

District held:

Turning to the cross-appeal, we first agree with the state that the statute, section 775.087(2)(d), Florida Statutes (2000), [footnote omitted] which <u>unequivocally requires</u> that the substantive sentences be imposed "consecutively to any other term of imprisonment imposed for any other felony offense" requires the sentences on the remaining charges be served consecutively to those in the cocaine case. <u>State v. Cherry</u>, 801 So.2d 278 (Fla. 4th DCA 2001).

Mondesir, 814 So. 2d at 1173.

See Walton v. State, 106 So. 3d 522 (Fla. 1st DCA 2013) (held any mandatory minimum term required by statute authorizing consecutive mandatory minimum sentences under 10–20–Life for crimes committed in a single episode, whether the defendant fires a gun or only carries or displays it, shall be imposed consecutively to any other term imposed for any other felony); Smart v. State, 114 So.3d 1048 (Fla.App. 1st DCA 2013) (held any minimum sentence required by section 775.087(2)(d) shall be imposed consecutively to any other term imposed for any other felony offense, citing Walton); see e.g., Dunbar v. State, 46 So.3d 81 (Fla. 5th DCA 2010) (held the imposition of a mandatory minimum sentence under section 775.087(2) of the Florida Statutes is a nondiscretionary duty of a trial court when the record indicates that the defendant qualifies for mandatory minimum

sentencing; a trial court must impose the mandatory minimum sentence once a defendant is convicted of an enumerated felony under section 775.087(2), and the failure to do so is reversible error).

As the Appellant in the Second District's decision in <u>Sousa</u> successfully argued regarding the provision of consecutive sentences as to the "any other felony" language of 775.087 (2)(d), Petitioner commends and implores this Court to consider the comments to its Final Analysis of CS/CS/HB 113 (SB 194), which became Chapter 99–12, Laws of Florida, and subsection regarding the statute:

Consecutive Sentences

The bill provides that the Legislature intends for the new minimum mandatory sentences to be imposed for each qualifying count, and the court is required to impose the minimum mandatory sentences required by the bill consecutive to any other term of imprisonment imposed for any other felony offense. This provision does not explicitly prohibit a judge from imposing the minimum mandatory sentences concurrent to each other.

The Second District in <u>Sousa</u> acknowledged the above-referenced legislative staff analysis upon which <u>Mondesir</u> relied. Though successful in persuading the Second District to reverse the trial court, in reviewing the Second District decision in <u>Sousa</u>, this Court considered that argument and found it unavailing:

The fundamental rule of construction in determining legislative intent is to first give effect to the plain and

ordinary meaning of the language used by the Legislature. Courts are not to change the plain meaning of a statute by turning to legislative history if the meaning of the statute can be discerned from the language in the statute. See Rollins v. Pizzarelli, 761 So.2d 294, 299 (Fla.2000); see also Taylor Woodrow Constr. Corp. v. Burke Co., 606 So.2d 1154, 1156 (Fla.1992) ("Where the statutory provision is clear and not unreasonable or illogical in its operation, the court may not go outside the statute to give it a different meaning."). We have previously stated that the legislative history of a statute is irrelevant where the wording of a statute is clear, see Aetna Cas. & Sur. Co. v. Huntington Nat'l Bank, 609 So.2d 1315, 1317 (Fla.1992), and that courts "are not at liberty to add words to statutes that were not placed there by the Legislature." Hayes v. State, 750 So.2d 1, 4 (Fla.1999).

Sousa, 903 So. 2d. at 928.

There is no reason this Court's rationale as to legislative history in <u>Sousa</u> should not be applicable here. Respondent contends the statute is not ambiguous and is plain in its meaning. Accordingly, a review of the legislative history is neither required or necessitated.

Ironically, in his initial brief it is Petitioner – not seeking legislative review - who seeks to give a different interpretation to the statutes wording:

Appellant argues that a better reading of the statue is "the court *shall* impose any term of imprisonment provided for in this subsection consecutively to any other term of imprisonment imposed *for any other felony offense*" not included in this subsection.

(IB 12).

Respondent contends the legislative language is not at odds with the statute. "[T]he court must give unambiguous language its plain and ordinary meaning, unless it leads to a result that is either unreasonable or clearly contrary to legislative intent." R.T.G. Furniture Corp. v. Coates, 93 So.3d 1151, 1153 (Fla. 4th DCA 2012). In addition to the statute's plain language, a basic rule of statutory construction provides that the Legislature does not intend to enact useless provisions, and courts should avoid readings that would render part of a statute meaningless. See Unruh v. State, 669 So.2d 242, 245 (Fla.1996); Forsythe v. Longboat Key Beach Erosion Control Dist., 604 So.2d 452, 456 (Fla.1992).

Petitioner further argues that public policy demands that "trial courts be given sentencing discretion to avoid the extreme and harsh sentences that can yield results that Appellant now finds himself in". However, explicit in the statute is the public policy of the state of Florida regarding the use of firearms. Section 775.087, Florida Statutes, commonly referred to as the 10–20–Life statute, provides for mandatory minimum sentences for offenders who possess or use a firearm in some manner during the commission of certain crimes. As explained by this Court, in enacting the 10–20–Life statute, the Legislature "has very clearly mandated that it is the policy of this State to deter the criminal use of firearms." McDonald v. State,

957 So.2d 605, 611 (Fla.2007). "This mandate is underscored by the widespread promulgation of the 10–20–LIFE law beyond mere statutory notice, through television commercials, posters, and other forms of advertising." <u>Id</u>.

In <u>Mendenhall</u>, <u>supra</u>, this Court held a trial court has discretion, under the provision of the 10–20–Life statute setting forth a mandatory minimum sentence of 25 years to life for defendants who discharge a firearm during the commission of certain enumerated crimes and inflict death or great bodily harm as the result of the discharge, to impose a mandatory minimum sentence of 25 years to life even if such mandatory minimum exceeds the statutory maximum sentence for the crime set forth in the general sentencing statute. In reaching this holding, this Court noted that § 775.087(2)(d), Fla. Stat. clearly states that it is the intent of the Legislature to punish those offenders who possess or use firearms to the fullest extent of the law. <u>Mendenhall</u>, 48 So. 3d. at 747. This Court further observed:

Finally, this reading of the statute not only recognizes that specific statutes control over general statutes and that words in a statute should not be rendered meaningless, but also effectuates the Legislature's clearly stated and unambiguous intent to punish offenders who possess or use firearms "to the fullest extent of the law." § 775.087(2)(d), Fla. Stat. (2004). The Legislature, in enacting the 10–20–Life statute, "very clearly mandated that it is the policy of this State to deter the criminal use of firearms." McDonald, 957 So.2d at 611. This policy is underscored by the statement of legislative intent contained in the act enacting section 775.087(2)(a)(3):

WHEREAS, Florida ranks among the most violent states in the nation, and

WHEREAS, in 1975 the Florida Legislature enacted legislation requiring a minimum mandatory sentence of three years in prison for possessing a gun during the commission or attempted commission of a violent felony, and

WHEREAS, the Legislature enacted this mandatory penalty in order to protect citizens from criminals who are known to use guns during the commission of violent crimes, and

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